

# **School of Medicine**

Department of Health Sciences

Master's Degree in Medical Biotechnologies

Evolution of clonal hematopoiesis of indeterminate potential gene

mutations after therapy in chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients

TUTOR:

Chiar.mo Prof. Gianluca GAIDANO

Candidate: Shahrzad HESAMI ARANI

Matricula number: 20053127

Academic Year 2023/2024

Contents	
Summary	3
1. Introduction	4
1.1.Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia	4
1.2 Molecular Pathogenesis of CLL	5
1.3 CLL Diagnosis	6
1.4 Clinical staging system	7
1.5 Prognostic markers in CLL	8
1.6 Treatment	
1.7 Clonal Hematopoiesis of Indeterminate Potential (CHIP)	
1.8 CHIP and CLL	15
2.Aim of the study	
3.Materials and methods	
3.1 Patients	
3.2 Separation of granulocytes from peripheral blood (PB)	
3.3 DNA extraction	
3.4 DNA quantification and fragmentation	19
3.5 Library design for hybrid selection	19
3.6 Next generation sequencing	19
3.6 Statistical analysis	22
4.Results	23
4.1 Patients characteristics	23
4.2 Chip prevalence and the mutational analysis	25
4.3 The clonal evolution of CHIP following the therapy	26
5. Discussion	
6. References	

# Index

### Summary

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is one of the most common B-cell malignancies, characterized by significant clinical and biological heterogeneity. Some patients exhibit an indolent form that does not require treatment for several years, while others have an aggressive form necessitating early intervention. Historically, chemoimmunotherapy (CIT) was the primary treatment for CLL, but its use has significantly declined with the advent of pathway inhibitors like venetoclax, a BCL2 inhibitor. Clonal hematopoiesis of indeterminate potential (CHIP) is an age-related phenomenon defined by the presence of specific, cancer-associated somatic mutations in hematopoietic cells in the absence of a hematological malignancy. Importantly, CHIP has been the focus of several studies because of its link to a higher risk of myeloid malignancies. However, less is known about the role of CHIP in lymphoid neoplasms, particularly in CLL. Further research is needed to investigate the correlation between CHIP and CLL to enhance our understanding of this phenomenon and its clinical and prognostic implications. This thesis explores the genetic landscape and clonal evolution of CHIP in newly diagnosed CLL patients, focusing on the impact of different treatment regimens. In our study, we performed a mutational analysis of 367 CLL patients, through next generation sequencing (NGS) approach, using a panel of 28 genes. Our findings reveal a CHIP prevalence in 45.5% of the cohort. Notably, mutations in DNMT3A, TET2, and ASXL1 being the most common, consistent with observations from previous studies. Our longitudinal analysis showed that CIT often led to an increase in CHIP mutations and variant allele frequency (VAF), suggesting that CIT may exacerbate CHIP. In contrast, venetoclax-based therapy exhibited heterogeneous effects, with some patients developed new CHIP mutations while others cleared their preexisting mutations, indicating varied impacts of venetoclax on clonal expansion. Monitoring CHIP mutations could become a crucial aspect of long-term patient care. This study advocates for routine CHIP screening and further research into the mechanisms of clonal expansion posttherapy, aiming to improve personalized treatment strategies and patient outcomes. In conclusion, our research highlights the intricate relationship between CHIP and CLL, underscoring the importance of comprehensive genomic monitoring, and understanding how different therapies impact clonal dynamics is essential for advancing CLL treatment and enhancing patient care. This thesis contributes to the broader understanding of CLL pathogenesis and the potential for targeted interventions to mitigate therapy-related complications.

## 1. Introduction

## **1.1.Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (CLL)**

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is one of the most frequent B-cell malignancies and the most common type of leukemia in Western countries, with an incidence of approximately 5.1/100000 new cases per year. At diagnosis, the median age of CLL patients is 70 years old, and only 9.1% of them are younger than 45 years old. The disease affects men more often than women (1.7:1), and this gender difference appears to exist across all ethnic groups (Yao *et al.*, 2022).

CLL is defined as a lymphoproliferative disorder, characterized by the clonal expansion of CD5+ mature B cells in the peripheral blood (PB), bone marrow (BM) and lymphoid tissues (lymph nodes and spleen) (Hallek *et al.*, 2018a). According to the World Health Organization (WHO) CLL is invariably a disease of neoplastic B cells, is only distinguished from small lymphocytic lymphoma (SLL) by its leukemic presentation (Hallek *et al.*, 2018).

Transcriptome analyses of CLL and the primary normal B cell subsets from human blood and spleen showed that CLL cells co-express the B-cell surface antigens CD19 and CD20 together with CD5, CD23, CD43 and CD200 (Seifert *et al.*, 2012).

Although the precise cell of origin of CLL is still under investigation, immunogenetic studies and gene expression profiling (GEP) analyses have provided important information regarding the putative CLL progenitor (Fabbri G *et al.*, 2016). Naïve B cell encounters the antigen and may proceed either through a T cell-dependent reaction occurring in the germinal center (GC) and leading to the generation of memory B cells that have undergone somatic hypermutation of immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region (IGHV) genes, or in T cell-independent immune responses that may lead to the formation of antigen-experienced B cells harboring unmutated IGHV genes.

CLL and the preceding MBL phase may originate from both subsets of antigenexperienced B cells. CLLs originating from B cells that have experienced somatic hypermutation (SHM) carry mutated IGHV genes and are defined as mutated CLL (M-CLL). Conversely, CLLs originating from B cells that have been involved in T cellindependent immune reactions harbor germline IGHV genes, without SHM, and are defined as unmutated CLL (U-CLL) (Figure 1).



Figure 1. CLL subtypes may originate from two distinct cell types

CLL cells possessing unmutated IGHV are believed to originate from B cells that have not experienced somatic hypermutation in the IGV(D)J region, typically occurring in the germinal center (Stevenson *et al.*, 2011). Conversely, CLL cells with mutated *IGV* seem to arise from post-germinal center B cells (Fais *et al.*, 1998). Additionally, a small percentage of cases (6% to 10%) have undergone isotype switch recombination (Fais *et al.*, 1998).

#### **1.2 Molecular Pathogenesis of CLL**

CLL is characterized by a marked degree of heterogeneity both at the clinical and at the biological level (Gaidano & Rossi, 2017). The genetic landscape of CLL is significantly varied, including severe chromosomal anomalies such as del13q14, trisomy 12, del17p13, and del11q23, as well as mutations in numerous cancer-related genes (Fabbri & Dalla-Favera, 2016; Julio Delgado *et al.*, 2020a; Putowski & Giannopoulos, 2021). The genes most commonly affected by molecular changes in CLL cluster into particular biological pathways, including NOTCH1 signaling (*NOTCH1* and *FBXW7*), DNA damage response (*ATM*, *TP53*, *POT1*), apoptosis (*miR15/16* and *BCL2*), BCR and toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling (*EGR2*, *BCOR*, *MYD88*, *TLR2*, *IKZF3*), NF-κB signaling (*BIRC3*, *NFKBIE*, *TRAF2*, *TRAF3*), and RNA splicing and metabolism (*SF3B1*, *U1*, *XPO1*, *DDX3X*, *RPS15*) (Fabbri & Dalla-Favera, 2016; Julio Delgado *et al.*, 2020a; Putowski & Giannopoulos, 2021).

#### 1.3 CLL Diagnosis

The clinical diagnosis of CLL requires the presence of  $\geq 5x103/\mu$ l of monoclonal B lymphocytes in the peripheral blood (Fazi *et al.*, 2011; Hallek *et al.*, 2018b; Parikh *et al.*, 2021). Patients with a lymphocyte count less than  $5x103/\mu$ l may be diagnosed with monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis (MBL), a condition where there is no evidence of enlarged lymph nodes. Albeit they do not meet the diagnostic criteria for CLL (Shadman, 2023) the rate of transformation to CLL in MBL patients is 1% to 2% annually (Fazi *et al.*, 2011; Hallek *et al.*, 2018b; Parikh *et al.*, 2021).

Approximately70% of individuals with CLL are diagnosed without symptoms at the time of diagnosis due to an inexplicable lymphocytosis that was accidentally found (Abrisqueta *et al.*, 2009) (Box 1). Of the patients who exhibit symptoms, approximately half have lymphadenopathy symptoms, around 20% to 50% have hepatosplenomegaly symptoms, and approximately 5% to 10% have unintended weight loss of 10% or more within a 6-month period, fever, intense sweats at night, or extreme fatigue (B symptoms) (Nabhan & Rosen, 2014; Rai *et al.*, 1975).

Additionally, patients may present with cytopenia due to immune-mediated complications such as immune thrombocytopenia (<2%) or autoimmune hemolytic anemia (<10%), or as a result of CLL cells involving the bone marrow (Nabhan & Rosen, 2014; Rai *et al.*, 1975). To diagnose CLL, a peripheral blood flow cytometry test is required and is often suffice (Hallek *et al.*, 2018b). Additional imaging and a bone marrow sample are not required in asymptomatic patients, and further evaluations may be postponed until therapy is administered (Hallek *et al.*, 2018b; Wierda *et al.*, 2022a).

Box 1. Presenting Signs and Symptoms of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia

Asymptomatic at diagnosis with incidental finding of lymphocytosis (70%)

Symptomatic (30%)

Enlarged lymph nodes (≈50%)

Enlarged spleen or liver (≈20%-50%)

Constitutional (or B) symptoms: drenching night sweats, unintentional weight loss ( $\geq$ 10% body weight within 6 months), fever (5%-10%)

Autoimmune cytopenia: hemolytic anemia (up to 10%) or immune thrombocytopenia (up to 2%)

Hypogammaglobinemia leading to frequent infections (particularly sinus or lung) (up to 10%)

Box 1. Presenting signs and symptoms in CLL

## 1.4 Clinical staging system

Two clinical staging systems applied to CLL patients to define disease burden and treatment indication: Rai and Binet staging systems (Binet *et al.*, 1981; Rai *et al.*, 1975). Both approaches define three major prognostic groupings with distinct clinical outcomes (Hallek & Al-Sawaf, 2021). These two staging techniques are straight forward and inexpensive, relying on a physical examination and conventional laboratory tests (Hallek & Al-Sawaf, 2021).

The Rai staging system classifies low-risk disease in patients exhibiting lymphocytosis, characterized by the presence of leukemia cells in the blood and/or bone marrow, with lymphoid cells exceeding 30% (former Rai stage 0). Patients presenting with lymphocytosis, enlargement of nodes at any location, and splenomegaly or hepatomegaly (regardless of whether the lymph nodes are palpable) are classified as having intermediate-risk disease (formerly considered Rai stage I or stage II). High-risk diseases encompass conditions such as disease-related anemia, characterized by a hemoglobin (Hb) level below 11 g/dL (previously

known as stage III), or thrombocytopenia, defined by a platelet count lower than 100 x 10<sup>9</sup>/L (formerly stage IV) (Rai *et al.*, 1975) (Table 1).

The Binet staging system classifies disease based on the number of affected areas, indicated by enlarged lymph nodes larger than 1 cm in diameter or organomegaly, and the presence of anemia or thrombocytopenia. The Binet staging system classifies stage A by a hemoglobin level of  $\geq 10$  g/dL and platelet count of  $\geq 100 \times 10^{9}$ /L, with no more than two areas of lymphoid tissue involved.; Stage B is characterized by hemoglobin levels of  $\geq 100 \times 10^{9}$ /L, and organomegaly that exceeds the criteria for stage A, which includes enlargement in three or more areas of nodal or organ involvement. Stage C is characterized by a hemoglobin level of less than 10 g/dL and/or a platelet count of less than 100 x 10^9/L (Binet *et al.*, 1981) (Table 2).

Table 1.	Clinical Staging Sy					
Rai staging		Binet staging				
Stage	Risk category	Findings	Stage	Findings		
0	Low	Lymphocytosis <sup>a</sup>	А	No cytopenia and ≤2 lymphoid area involvement	<sup>a</sup> Lymphocyte count greater than $5 \times 10^{9}/L$ .	
1	Intermediate	Lymphadenopathy <sup>b</sup>	В	No cytopenia and >3 lymphoid area involvement		
2	Intermediate	Hepatosplenomegaly <sup>b</sup>	С	Presence of anemia or thrombocytopenia		
3	High	Anemia <sup>c</sup>			<sup>c</sup> Homoglobin level loss than 11 g/dl	
4	High	Thrombocytopenia <sup>d</sup>			<sup>d</sup> Platelet count less than 100 000/µ	

Table 1. Clinical Staging Systems in CLL

#### **1.5 Prognostic markers in CLL**

Molecular prognostic markers provide useful information about the biology and the natural history of CLL in the absence and/or independent of the treatment received (Lee & Wang, 2020). They include:

#### **TP53** disruption

TP53 aberrations (including del(17p) and TP53 mutations) are currently the most significant prognostic factor in CLL (Gonzalez *et al.*, 2011; Malcikova *et al.*, 2018;

Stilgenbauer *et al.*, 2014a). *TP53* aberrations can be found in 10% of CLL patients on frontline therapy, 30% at relapse, and 50% at refractoriness (Gonzalez *et al.*, 2011; Malcikova *et al.*, 2018; Stilgenbauer *et al.*, 2014a).

*TP53* encodes a key regulator of the DNA damage response (Landau *et al.*, 2013; Malcikova *et al.*, 2015; Rossi *et al.*, 2014). Chemotherapy is rarely effective in eliminating *TP53* mutant or deleted CLL cells due to their poor ability to undergo apoptotic induction (Landau *et al.*, 2013; Malcikova *et al.*, 2015; Rossi *et al.*, 2014). Furthermore, CLL cells with *TP53* abnormalities usually exhibit expansion upon recurrence after treatment (Landau *et al.*, 2013; Malcikova *et al.*, 2015; Rossi *et al.*, 2014). CLL with del(17p) and/or *TP53* mutations, alone or in conjunction with other unfavorable prognostic markers, is considered very-high risk (Dreger *et al.*, 2013). Prior to the advent of new medications, allogeneic stem cell transplantation was the only method for treating very-high-risk CLL (Dreger *et al.*, 2013). B-cell receptor (BCR) pathway drugs appear to overcome *TP53*-induced treatment resistance and improve the subgroup's poor prognosis (Burger, 2020; Byrd *et al.*, 2021; Farooqui *et al.*, 2015).

#### **IGHV** mutational status

IGHV status has been shown to be an independent prognostic factor in different prognostic models for overall survival (Eichhorst & Hallek, 2016). The unmutated-IGHV status is present in about half of CLL cases (<2% deviation from the germline sequence) (Bosch & Dalla-Favera, 2019; Crombie & Davids, 2017; Julio Delgado et al., 2020b). These patients usually experience more unfavorable clinical outcomes and a shorter time between disease diagnosis and development. (Bosch & Dalla-Favera, 2019; Crombie & Davids, 2017; Julio Delgado *et al.*, 2020b).

On the other hand, the clinical course of CLL patients with a mutated IGHV status -  $(\geq 2\%$  deviation) is more slowly progressing (Bosch & Dalla-Favera, 2019; Crombie & Davids, 2017; Julio Delgado *et al.*, 2020b). Atypical humoral and cellular immunological reactions to infections or vaccinations are observed in patients with CLL (Shadman *et al.*, 2023).

#### **NOTCH1** mutations

The *NOTCH1* gene coding for transmembrane proteins is mutated in 4% to 11% of CLL patients and is frequently associated with trisomy 12 (Rossi *et al.*, 2012; Stilgenbauer *et al.*,

2014b; L. Wang *et al.*, 2011). Multivariate analysis has revealed that NOTCH1 is an independent prognostic factor of poor prognosis—at least in the era of chemoimmunotherapy (CIT) (Cortese *et al.*, 2014). Patients carrying *NOTCH1* mutation appear to have a higher risk of Richter transformation (Stilgenbauer *et al.*, 2014b).

Comprehensive prognostic scores have been developed to distil prognostic information into a few clinically relevant, essential parameters by combining clinical, biological, and genetic data (Cortese *et al.*, 2014; Pflug *et al.*, 2014; Shanafelt *et al.*, 2009; Wierda *et al.*, 2007). The most pertinent prognostic score at present is the CLL International Prognostic Index (CLL-IPI) ('An International Prognostic Index for Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (CLL-IPI)', 2016).

It employs a weighted grading system based on five independent prognostic factors: *TP53* deletion and/or mutation (together referred to as TP53 dysfunction), the mutational status of the immunoglobulin heavy chain variable (IGHV), serum  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin levels, clinical stage, and age. The CLL-IPI distinguishes four groups with varying five-year survival rates (see Table 2). The prognostic significance of the CLL-IPI is being re-evaluated for the application of targeted therapies ('An International Prognostic Index for Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (CLL-IPI)', 2016).

A recently proposed system, the International Prognostic Score for Early-stage CLL (IPS-E), predicts the time to first treatment in patients with early, asymptomatic CLL (Condoluci *et al.*, 2020a). Three covariates: an unmutated IGHV gene, an absolute lymphocyte count higher than 15 x  $10^{9}$ /L, and the presence of palpable lymph nodes, were combined to predict a 5-year cumulative risk for the initiation of treatment at 8.4%, 28.4%, and 61.2% for low-risk, intermediate-risk, and high-risk patients, respectively. The IPS-E is beneficial for counselling patients with early-stage CLL (Condoluci *et al.*, 2020b) (Table 2).

Table 2. Prognostic Scoring Systems in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia						
Variable	Points	Risk group (total points)	5-y cumulative risk of treatment start, %			
International Prognostic Score for Asymptomatic Early-stage Disease (IPS-E)						
Unmutated IGHV	1	Low (0)	8.4			
ALC ≥15 × 10 <sup>9</sup> /L	1	Intermediate (1)	28.4			
Palpable lymphadenopathy	1	High (2-3)	61.2			
CLL International Prognostic Index (CLL-IPI)			5-y overall survival, %	10-y overall survival, %		
Del(17p12) or TP53 variant	4	Low (0-1)	93	79		
$\beta_2$ microglobulin >3.5 mg/L	2	Intermediate (2-3)	79	39		
Unaltered IGVH	2	High (4-6)	63	22		
Rai stage 1-4	1	Very high (7-10)	23	4		
Age >65 y	1					

Abbreviations: ALC, absolute lymphocyte count; CLL, chronic lymphocytic leukemia; *IGHV*, immunoglobulin heavy chain gene.

#### Table 2. Prognostic Scoring systems in CLL

### 1.6 Treatment

Clinically, CLL is characterized by a marked degree of heterogeneity. Some patients have a condition that is indolent and will not require treatment for several years (Gaidano & Rossi, 2017). On the other hand, some patients have an aggressive form of the disease that requires prompt treatment after diagnosis, or may subsequently transform into an aggressive lymphoma, known as Richter's syndrome (Gaidano & Rossi, 2017).

Asymptomatic patients without anemia, neutropenia, or thrombocytopenia are typically managed with a watch-and-wait strategy, meaning that treatment is not required at the time of diagnosis for most patients (Herling *et al.*, 2020; Langerbeins *et al.*, 2022). Treating individuals with asymptomatic CLL does not appear to increase survival (Herling *et al.*, 2020; Langerbeins *et al.*, 2022). For instance, fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab treatment did not improve survival over observation without treatment at five years (82.9% vs. 79.9%; P =.86) in a clinical trial involving 201 patients with asymptomatic CLL (Herling *et al.*, 2020; Langerbeins *et al.*, 2022). In the event that a patient develops significant anemia or cytopenia (hemoglobin level <10 g/dL or platelet count <100 000/µL), hepatosplenomegaly (≥10 cm for lymph nodes and ≥6 cm below the left costal margin for spleen), recurrent infections, or refractory autoimmune thrombocytopenia/anemia related to CLL, treatment is required (Hallek *et al.*, 2018b; Wierda *et al.*, 2022b).

CIT was the main therapy of the treatment of CLL. Chemotherapy agents such as alkylating agents (such as bendamustine and chlorambucil), and purine analogues (such as

fludarabine and pentostatin) in combination with the anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies (Kutsch *et al.*, 2020). It should be mentioned that over a median follow-up of 58 months, the fludarabine-cyclophosphamide-rituximab (FCR) combination is linked to a roughly 7% risk of secondary myeloid malignancy (Kutsch *et al.*, 2020). The use of traditional CIT has significant decreased since the introduction of pathway inhibitors (Shadman, 2023). The ongoing advancements in comprehending the pathogenesis of CLL have broadened treatment options beyond conventional CIT (Shadman, 2023). This includes the emergence of innovative small molecule inhibitors that target key signaling pathways critical to the survival and proliferation of CLL cells (Shadman, 2023).

#### **BCR Inhibitors**

Since the BCR signaling pathway contributes to the pathophysiology of CLL, typical treatment for the disease involves the use of medications that block the BCR pathway's enzymes, particularly Bruton tyrosine kinase (BTK) and phosphoinositide 3'-kinase (PI3K) (Byrd *et al.*, 2014).

BTK inhibitors, are small molecules that occupy of the ATP binding domain inhibits the subsequent phosphorylation of BTK and blocks the downstream signaling pathways, which regulate cell survival and proliferation (Zain & Vihinen, 2021). They are administered as monotherapy indefinitely, as continuous inhibition of the target enzyme is essential for their antiproliferative effect (Barr *et al.*, 2022a). BTKi can be grouped into covalent BTKi (ibrutinib, acalabrutinib, and zanubrutinib) and non-covalent BTKi (pirtobrutinib).

Covalent BTK inhibitors like ibrutinib, acalabrutinib, and zanubrutinib irreversibly inhibit the BTK enzyme, and over 90% of patients respond to these treatments (Barr *et al.*, 2022b). Conversely BTK is reversibly inactivated by the noncovalent inhibitor pirtobrutinib (E. Wang *et al.*, 2022). CLL patients may develop resistance against BTKi by different mechanisms. Including mutations of the BTK binding site and of the gene encoding phospholipase C Gamma 2 (PLCG2), which acts downstream of BTK in the BCR signaling cascade (Bonfiglio *et al.*, 2023; Woyach *et al.*, 2017).

As the first class covalent BTK inhibitor discovered, ibrutinib is linked to a 60% PFS at 7 years when used as first-line therapy, and a 40% PFS at 5 years when used in patients who experienced a relapse (Barr et al., 2022c; Mato et al., 2018; Munir et al., 2019). However, side effects, including rash (16.7%), atrial fibrillation (25%), and arthralgia (42%), are frequent and

may require discontinuing the treatment (Barr *et al.*, 2022c; Mato *et al.*, 2018; Munir *et al.*, 2019).

Acalabrutinib and zanubrutinib are examples of second-generation BTK inhibitors that specifically target the BTK enzyme (Brown *et al.*, 2023; Byrd *et al.*, 2021). Clinical trials directly comparing these drugs to ibrutinib have observed lower incidences of grade 3 or higher adverse events with acalabrutinib (68.8% vs. 74.9%) and zanubrutinib (67.3% vs. 70.4%) than with ibrutinib (Brown *et al.*, 2023; Byrd *et al.*, 2021).

In patients with indolent B-cell lymphomas, PI3K inhibitors effectively suppress the  $\delta$  isoform of PI3K (Shouse *et al.*, 2022). For the treatment of CLL, idelalisib (an inhibitor of the  $\delta$  isoform) and duvelisib (an inhibitor of the  $\delta$  and  $\gamma$  isoforms) are approved (Shouse *et al.*, 2022). Higher prevalence of all infections and a number of immune-mediated side effects are linked to PI3K inhibitors (Sharman *et al.*, 2019). Every month, patients taking idelalisib should be evaluated for elevated liver enzyme levels (39%), diarrhea (29%), pneumonitis (cough, dyspnea, and hypoxemia) (5.5%) and colitis (4.5%) (Sharman *et al.*, 2019).

#### **BCL2** Inhibitors

The apoptotic mitochondrial pathway is inhibited by BCL2 proteins (Chong & Davids, 2020). The pathophysiology of CLL heavily relies on the overexpression of BCL2 family proteins (Chong & Davids, 2020). For about 70% of CLL patients, limited duration treatment with venetoclax, the only clinically available BCL2 inhibitor, results in complete responses without measurable disease in the blood or marrow; this effect lasts longer than six months for more than 60% of patients even after the drug is stopped (Shadman, 2023).

The extracellular region of the CD20 antigen is bound by monoclonal anti-CD20 antibodies, which can cause cell death directly, through complement-dependent cell toxicity, or through antibody-dependent cell toxicity (Maloney, 2012). These antibodies include chimeric (rituximab) and humanized (obinutuzumab and ofatumumab) (Maloney, 2012). Novel agents, including venetoclax, are coupled with monoclonal antibodies (Maloney, 2012).

#### **1.7 Clonal Hematopoiesis of Indeterminate Potential (CHIP)**

Recent genome-wide studies have revealed that aging or chronic inflammation can cause clonal expansion of cells in normal tissues Clonal Hematopoiesis (CH) is the type of clonal proliferation that has been studied the most among the different forms of clonal expansion (Genovese *et al.*, 2014a; Jaiswal *et al.*, 2014a; Xie *et al.*, 2014).

The term "CH of indeterminate potential (CHIP)" is defined by to the presence of at least one somatic mutation in hematopoietic stem cells of peripheral blood in the healthy individuals with no history of hematological malignancy individuals, with a variant allele frequency (VAF) of at least 2% (Steensma *et al.*, 2015). It is considered an aging phenomenon because the prevalence increases with age reaching 10–30% in individuals over 70. The clinical data suggest that aging is the strongest risk factor for CHIP (Australian Pancreatic Cancer Genome Initiative *et al.*, 2013). In addition to age, the second most major risk factor for CHIP is a history of chemotherapy or radiation (Coombs *et al.*, 2017).

The most common mutation found in CHIP is a C to T single nucleotide substitution in the coding region, which results from an age-dependent increase in the rate of spontaneous deamination of 5-methyl-cytosines at CpG loci (Australian Pancreatic Cancer Genome Initiative et al., 2013). The most frequently mutated genes in CHIP are those coding for the epigenetic regulators DNMT3A, TET2, and ASXL1, and these mutations provide a fitness advantage to HSCs, potentially leading to their expansion (Asada *et al., 2018, 2019;* Izzo *et al., 2020*). Mutations in *DNMT3A* and *TET2* influence DNA methylation whereas those in ASXL1 alter histone modifications, and thereby influence hematopoiesis (Asada *et al., 2018, 2019;* Izzo *et al., 2020*).

CHIP is a significant risk factor for myeloid malignancies including acute myeloid leukemia (AML), myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS), and myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPN) suggesting that CHIP is a precursor state for hematological malignancy that occurs less frequently (Jaiswal *et al.*, 2014a, 2017a; Steensma *et al.*, 2015; Welch *et al.*, 2012; Xie *et al.*, 2014). Furthermore, it appears that certain lymphoid cancers emerge from CHIP (Asada & Kitamura, 2021). CHIP is also common in patients with chemotherapy-treated solid tumors and has also been linked to poor prognosis (Coombs *et al.*, 2017).

Significantly, CHIP is associated with increased risk of cardiovascular disease and allcause mortality (Jaiswal *et al.*, 2014a, 2017a; Steensma *et al.*, 2015; Welch *et al.*, 2012; Xie *et al.*, 2014). Moreover, CHIP has been found in non-malignant diseases such as acquired aplastic anemia (AA) which is an autoimmune disease (Coombs *et al.*, 2017), Erdheim-Chester disease, and hereditary bone marrow failure syndromes (Cohen Aubart *et al.*, 2021; Tsai & Lindsley, 2020; Yoshizato *et al.*, 2015). These findings indicate that there is a need for future studies to focus on the implications of CHIP (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Overview of CHIP and its implication

## **1.8 CHIP and CLL**

Numerous hematologic malignancies, such as CLL, multiple myeloma (MM), and AML, are known to have well-established precursor conditions that come prior to the manifestation of overt cancer (Condoluci & Rossi, 2018). CLL is invariably preceded by a high MBL count (Landgren, Albitar, *et al.*, 2009). MM is almost always preceded by Monoclonal Gammopathy of Undetermined Significance (MGUS) (Landgren, Kyle, *et al.*, 2009), and at least one-fourth of patients with MDS progress to AML (Pfeilstöcker *et al.*, 2016). Deep genomic sequencing in healthy individuals has shown that as humans age, the expansion of one or more hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs) leads to clones that disproportionately contribute to the production of mature blood cells (Condoluci & Rossi, 2018). As such, CHIP is characterized by the proliferation of HSPC clones that carry specific,

disruptive, and recurrent genetic variants in individuals who do not have a definitive diagnosis of hematologic malignancies (Jaiswal *et al.*, 2014b). Numerous studies have shown that MDS are often preceded by CHIP (Malcovati *et al.*, 2017). Furthermore, certain mutations associated with CHIP may elevate the risk of leukemia, while others may heighten the risk for heart disease and diabetes. Several studies demonstrated that, MDS are frequently preceded by CHIP, moreover, some CHIP related mutations can increase the risk for leukemia (Genovese *et al.*, 2014b), while other mutations possibly increase the risk for heart disease and diabetes (Jaiswal *et al.*, 2017b). Prior research has established a proof of principle that CHIP may be associated with the expansion of B-cell clones exhibiting a CLL phenotype, thereby linking CHIP with MBL and CLL in a continuum of evolution from HSCP clones to mature B-cell clones (Condoluci & Rossi, 2018).

However, less is known on the role of CHIP in lymphoid neoplasms, particularly in CLL. Further research on the correlation between CHIP and CLL is necessary to better understand this phenomenon and its clinical and prognostic implications.

# 2. Aim of the study

The aims of the present study are:

- *i)* Investigate the prevalence and incidence of CHIP in a prospective cohort of 367 newly diagnosed CLL patients referred to our institution.
- *ii)* Evaluate the changes in CHIP status at baseline and following treatment.

# **3.**Materials and methods

#### **3.1 Patients**

The study was conducted on a real-life cohort composed of 367 CLL patients. For each patient, samples of genomic DNA (gDNA) extracted from granulocytes were obtained. Clinical and biological data were available for each patient, such as age, sex, blood count, biochemical profile, immunophenotype on flow cytometry, FISH analysis, mutational status of IGHV genes, mutational analysis of the *TP53* gene via DNA sequencing, Rai and Binet staging, TTFT and OS. The study was approved by the intercompany ethics committee of the AOU *Maggiore della Carità* of Novara (CE 120/19).

### **3.2 Separation of granulocytes from peripheral blood (PB)**

PB from patients with CLL was collected in special tubes. Granulocytes were isolated from the same peripheral blood samples and used as a source of gDNA. PB granulocytes were separated by Ficoll gradient density centrifugation, PB was diluted in 1:2 ratio with physiological solution (NaCl 0.9%) and then centrifuged at 1800 revolutions per minute (rpm) for 25 minutes in a gradient differentiation Sigma Diagnostics<sup>™</sup> Histopaque<sup>™</sup> -1077 Cell Separation Medium (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) solution to obtain granulocytes and mononuclear cells (monocytes and lymphocytes).

#### **3.3 DNA extraction**

Granulocytes gDNA were extracted either by using the "salting out" protocol (Miller *et al.*, 1988). Cells were lysed with Lysis Buffer (Tris-HCl 1M, pH 8.2, NaCl 5M, 20 EDTA 0.5M), sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) 20% and digested with 20 mg/ml of proteinase enzyme (Pronase E). Samples were incubated at 37°C overnight in a shaking incubator. Proteins were precipitated with 6M NaCl, and subsequently discarded after centrifugation at 3200 rpm for 20 minutes. DNA was isolated by precipitation with pure ethanol and the lactescent "jellyfish" of DNA, formed because of the addition of ethanol, was recovered with glass loops and washed three times in 75% ethanol. The excess of ethanol was evaporated, and the DNA was dissolved with TE Buffer (Tris-HCl 1M, pH 8.2, EDTA 0.5M).

### 3.4 DNA quantification and fragmentation

gDNA were quantified using the Quant-iT<sup>™</sup> PicoGreen<sup>™</sup> dsDNA Assay Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, Eugene, OR, USA). PicoGreen is a molecule that binds selectively to double helix DNA and allows to obtain a precise estimate of the amount of DNA. The fluorimetric reading was performed using the Infinite F200 fluorometer (TECAN, Männedorf, Switzerland) using the Magellan software. The fluorimetric readings were obtained at a wavelength of 485 nm in absorption and 530 nm in emission. For quantification a standard curve was prepared using a DNA of known concentration and performing serial 1:2 scalar dilutions. Quant-iTTM PicoGreen dsDNA Assay kit was used at the 1:200 dilutions.

The gDNA was fragmented by sonication with the M220 focused ultrasonicator (Covaris® Woburn, MA, USA) before the library preparation to obtain 250/300 base pair fragments, the optimal length for analysis using the MiSeq and NextSeq 550 platforms (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA). The size of the fragments was checked by using the 2100 Bioanalyzer Instrument with the High Sensitivity DNA kit (Agilent Technologies, St. Clara, CA, USA).

### 3.5 Library design for hybrid selection

A targeted resequencing gene panel, including coding exons and splice sites of 28 genes (target region: 29710 bp) that are recurrently mutated in CLL and CHIP, has been specifically designed for this project.

#### 3.6 Next generation sequencing

The mutational analysis in NGS was performed using the MiSeq and NextSeq 550, which allows for massive high-throughput sequencing of the genomic regions of interest. The sequencing workflow involves the following phases: i) generation of libraries containing the regions of interest; ii) sequencing; and iii) data analysis.

#### i) Generation of libraries

Library preparation is a process that consists of generating a collection of DNA fragments suitable for analysis by NGS sequencing. In the current study, libraries were prepared from gDNA. Libraries were generated using the KAPA HyperPrep kit (Roche Diagnostics, Pleasanton, CA, USA) and enrichment of regions of interest was achieved using a KAPA Hyper Choice probe system (Roche Diagnostics, Pleasanton, CA, USA).

#### ii) Sequencing

The MiSeq and NextSeq 550 sequencer are based on sequencing by synthesis technology, in which DNA libraries are transferred onto a solid support, called flow cell, to which they are linked by special adapters. On the flow cell the libraries are amplified by a method called bridge amplification, which generates clusters of identical DNA molecules, each derived from the amplification of a single molecule. Sequencing is based on the reversible cyclic termination method, with a by-synthesis approach, which includes three steps: the incorporation of the nucleotide, the detection of the fluorescence image and the cut.

In the first phase of the cycle, the DNA polymerase elongates a specific primer by adding a nucleotide covalently bound to a fluorophore. This presents a block on the 3'- OH of ribose which does not allow polymerization with other nucleotides. Each nucleotide base is bound to a fluorophore of a specific colour. It follows the detection step of the image that recognizes the specific emission wavelength of the fluorophore. Next, the cut removes both the fluorophore and the inhibitory group present at the 3'-OH end, allowing the beginning of a new cycle.

Libraries were sequenced by pair-end sequencing. The library pool was denatured using 0.2N NaOH. An amount of 6 to 9.5 pM of denatured DNA (for the MiSeq platform) and 1.3 pM (for the NextSeq 550 platform) was loaded into the cartridge, which also contained all the reagents necessary for the sequencing reaction.

#### iii) Data analysis

During the sequencing run, the integrated software for real-time primary analysis (RTA, Real Time Analysis, Illumina) performs image analysis and identification of the bases and assigns a qualitative score (Phred score) to each base for each cycle.

Once the primary analysis is completed, A second software integrated into the sequencer, MiSeq Reporter Software (MSR) for the MiSeq platform and Local Run Manager

for the NextSeq 550 platform perform a secondary analysis on the data generated by the RTA through a series of procedures that include: i) de-multiplexing, which separate and identify data from different samples sequenced and pulled together based on the specific sample index sequences; ii) FASTQ generation, which are files containing all the reads obtained from sequencing.

FASTQ sequencing reads were subjected to deduplication by using FastUniq v1.1. Then, the deduplicated FASTQ sequencing reads were locally aligned to the GRCh37/hg19 version of the human genome assembly using the BWA v.0.6.1 software with the default setting, and sorted, indexed and assembled into a mpileup file, using SAMtools v.1.

The calling of single-nucleotide variants (SNVs), deletions and insertions (indel) at good quality nucleotide positions (Phred score >20), the process of identifying gDNA differences compared to the reference sequence GRCh37/hg19, was carried out using the somatic function of the VarScan2 program. The use of this method allowed us to exclude any polymorphisms and to consider only the somatic variants (SNV, indels).

The variants called by VarScan 2 were annotated using the wANNOVAR (https://wannovar.wglab.org/). Variants annotated as (single-nucleotide polymorphisms) SNPs according to according to the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) database (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/snp/), with the exception of *TP53* variants that were manually solved and scored as SNPs according to the International Agency for Research on Cancer TP53 database (http://p53.iarc.fr). Intronic variants, mapping >2 bp before the start or after the end of coding exons, and synonymous variants were then filtered out.

Among the remaining variants, only protein truncating variants (i.e., indels, stop codons and splice site mutations), as well as missense variants, not included in the dbSNP and annotated as somatic in the COSMIC v96 database (https://cancer.sanger.ac.uk/cosmic), were retained. All the variants were visualized using IGV (Integrative Genomics Viewer) software.

### **3.6 Statistical analysis**

Patient characteristics at diagnosis were compared with respect to the presence of CHIP using the Mann-Whitney test for continuous variables and the Chi-square test for categorical variables. The clinical end points were: i) OS measured from the date of diagnosis until the date of death from any cause; ii) the TTFT measured from the date of diagnosis until the start of the first line of therapy; iii) the time to transformation to Richter syndrome measured from the date of diagnosis to the time of transformation to Richter syndrome. The analyses were carried out with SPSS 24 software and R-Studio 2021.09.1.

# **4.Results**

#### 4.1 Patients characteristics

In our study, 367 newly diagnosed CLL patients have been analyzed. The median age at diagnosis was 70.3 years old, 206 (56.1%) were male and 161 (43.9%) were female. The median lymphocyte count was 9.1 x  $10^3$  /µL, the median Hb level was 13.8 g/dL, and the median PLT count was 205.5 x  $10^3$  /µL. As for CLL biological features, 124 (34.4%) patients harbored unmuted IGHV genes and 236 (65.6%) had mutated IGHV genes. Out of 367 patients, 36 (9.9%) had *TP53* disruptions. Concerning additional chromosomal anomalies, 61 individuals (16.7%) exhibited Trisomy 12, 20 individuals (5.5%) had a deletion in 11q, and 175 individuals (47.9%) showed a deletion in 13q. Out of the study group, 23 patients (6.3%) exhibited Richter transformation. Among the 155 patients (42.2%) who received treatment, chemo-immunotherapy was the initial treatment for 141 (91.0%) of them. The main characteristics of the patients are shown in table 3.

After a median follow-up of 13.9 years, the median OS was 12.5 years and the median TTFT in Binet A not reached (Figure 3).

Characteristics	N (%)					
Gender (n. %)						
Male	206 (56.1%)					
Female	161 (43.9%)					
Age (median)	70.3					
Lymphocyte x10^3/µL (median)	9.1					
Hb g/dL (median)	13.8					
Platelet x10^3/µL (median)	205.5					
IGHV status						
Unmutated	124 (34.4%)					
Mutated	236 (65.6%)					
TP53 disrupted						
Yes	36 (9.9%)					
No	328 (90.1%)					
Trisomy 12						
Present	61 (16.7%)					
Absent	304 (83.3%)					
Del11q						
Present	20 (5.5%)					
Absent	345 (94.5%)					
Del13q						
Present	175 (47.9%)					
Absent	190 (52.1%)					
Richter transformation						
Yes	23 (6.3%)					
No	344 (93.7%)					
Treated						
Yes	155 (42.2%)					
No	212 (57.8%)					
Type of 1 <sup>st</sup> line treatment						
Chemo-immunotherapy	141 (91.0%)					
BTKi or BCL2i	14 (9.0%)					

Table 3. Patients baseline characteristic.



**Figure 3. Survival analysis with Kaplan-Meier curves**. A: Global PFS of the cohort. B: Global TTFT of the cohort.

#### 4.2 Chip prevalence and the mutational analysis

Out of 367 patients analyzed for CHIP, 167 (45.5%) exhibited at least one CHIP mutation. As expected, the most frequently mutated gene was *DNMT3A in* 89 (24.3%) patients followed by *TET2* in 52 (14.2%), *ASXL1* in 10 (2.7%) and *TP53* in 9 (2.5%) (Figure 4).



**Figure 4. CHIP mutations.** The histogram presents the 19 genes found mutated in the patients on the x-axis, and the absolute number of mutations on the y-axis.

Regarding *DNMT3A* mutations, the largest number of mutations were non-synonymous SNVs (N=63), followed by frameshift deletions (N=16), and stopgain mutations (N=11). The most frequent TET2 mutations were non-synonymous SNVs and stopgain mutations (N=20 for each. *ASXL1* was most frequently affected by frameshift deletions and frameshift insertions (N=4 for each) (Figure 5).



**Figure 5. Type of CHIP mutations.** The histogram presents the 19 genes found mutated in the patients on the x-axis, and the number of mutations on the y-axis. The legend allows you to distinguish the type of mutation for each gene, based on a color scale. SNV, single-nucleotide variant.

#### 4.3 The clonal evolution of CHIP following the therapy

In this study, we collected and analyzed sequential patient samples at multiple critical stages specifically before CIT (pre-CIT) and after CIT therapy (post-CIT), as well as before and after venetoclax based therapy. This longitudinal approach aims to provide a comprehensive understanding of how therapy influences CHIP over time.

#### A) Chemoimmunotherapy (CIT)

In a cohort of 25 patients selected to evaluate the CIT impact on CHIP, 13 displayed at least one detectable mutation associated with CHIP in their pre-CIT samples. On the other hand, post-treatment analyses showed that 18 of the 25 patients had at least one detectable CHIP mutation in their samples. This represents an increase in the number of patients with CHIP following CIT (Figure 6).



**Figure 6.** Comparative Analysis of Gene Mutation Frequencies Pre and Post-CIT. The x-axis represents mutated genes. The y-axis represents individual patients. The size of the plot represents the variant allele frequency (VAF), with larger blots indicating a higher VAF. A) Pre–CIT, the blots are red signifying the mutations present before CIT. B) Post-CIT, represents the mutations present after CIT, in blue with VAF increased and in orange with VAF decreases.

The mean variant allele frequency (mVAF) before CIT was 1.13%, which increased to 2.85% after CIT. A p-value of 0.0042 indicates that the increase in mutation frequency following CIT is statistically significant (Figure 7).



**Figure 7**. **mVAF in CHIP Mutations Pre- and Post-CIT.** X-Axis has two timepoints are shown: "pre" (pre-CIT) and "post" (post-CIT). Y-Axis indicates the mean VAF.

#### **B)** Venetoclax

We selected 15 CLL patients treated with Obinutuzumab-venetoclax or R-venetoclax to study the clonal evolution of CHIP after venetoclax based therapy.

The VAF of seven different mutated genes patients was compared before and after the treatment. The studied mutated genes were *BRCC3*, *CUX1*, *DNMT3A*, *GNAS*, *IDH2*, *PIGA*, and *TET2*. In this cohort of patients, before the venetoclax therapy ten patients were CHIP-positive and five were CHIP-negative.

In the group of five CHIP-negative patients at baseline, two developed CHIP mutations (*DNMT3A* and *TET2*) following venetoclax treatment. Among the ten CHIP-positive patients, four cleared their CHIP mutations after venetoclax therapy and six continued to exhibit CHIP mutations post-venetoclax.

No significant differences were observed in the VAF of the mutated genes between pretherapy and post-therapy measurements. The mVAF was 1.6% before treatment and 2.3% following therapy (p-value = 0.704). (Figure 8).

#### A) Pre-venetoclax



**Figure 8.** Comparative Analysis of Gene Mutation Impact on Variant Allele Frequency in venetoclax based therapy. The x-axis represents mutated genes. The y-axis represents individual patients. The size of the blots represents the variant allele frequency (VAF), with larger blots indicating a higher VAF. A) Pre-venetoclax, the blots are red signifying the mutations present before CIT. B) Post-venetoclax, represents the mutations present after venetoclax, in blue with VAF increased and in orange with VAF decreases.

# 5. Discussion

CLL is one of the most frequent B-cell malignancies. It is characterized by a high degree of heterogeneity both at the clinical and at the biological level (Scarfò & Ghia, 2019). On the other hand, the term CHIP is the clonal expansions of mutated hematopoietic cells in otherwise healthy individuals without history of hematological malignancy (Reed et al., 2023). CHIP is a well-characterized precursor lesion for the development of myeloid neoplasms (Arber et al., 2022). However, less is known on the role of CHIP in lymphoid neoplasms, particularly in CLL. Further research is needed to explore the correlation between CHIP and CLL to gain a deeper understanding of this phenomenon and its clinical and prognostic implications. Consequently, this study aims to investigate the prevalence of CHIP in CLL patients and its evolution following different treatment regimens.

In this study, CHIP was analyzed in a cohort of 367 CLL patients, with a median age of 70.3 years, predominantly consisted of males (56.1%). Baseline hematological parameters indicated a typical profile for CLL patients, with median lymphocyte, hemoglobin, and platelet counts aligning with expectations for this patient group. The IGHV mutation status, a well-established prognostic marker, revealed that a majority (65.6%) of the patients had mutated IGHV genes, which is generally associated with a more favorable prognosis. This finding is consistent with studies by Damle *et al* and Hamblin *et al*, who reported that unmutated IGHV genes are associated with more aggressive forms of CLL (Damle et al., 1999; Hamblin et al., 1999).

The chromosomal anomalies observed in our study, including trisomy 12, deletions in 11q and 13q, and *TP53* disruptions, are consistent with known genetic alterations in CLL. Notably, 9.9% of patients exhibited *TP53* disruptions, which are linked to poorer outcomes and resistance to conventional therapies, as supported by (Zenz *et al.*, 2010).

The survival analysis showed a median overall survival (OS) of 12.5 years, with the time to first treatment (TTFT) not reached for patients in Binet stage A, suggesting a relatively indolent course for a significant subset of patients. This aligns with historical data, such as the findings of (Hallek *et al.*, 2010), which suggest that many CLL patients, especially those with favorable prognostic markers, can have prolonged survival even without immediate treatment.

NGS analysis highlighted the presence of CHIP in 45.5% among our CLL cohort. This prevalence aligning closely with the prevalence observed in older age groups within the general population, where CHIP is studied in healthy individuals and observed in 12.5% of individuals regardless of age, and up to 50% in individuals over 85 years old (Zink et al., 2017).

*DNMT3A*, *TET2*, and *ASXL1* were the most frequently mutated genes, which mirrors findings in other hematologic malignancies and aging populations. Jaiswal and Ebert also reported a similar prevalence of these mutations in their study (Jaiswal & Ebert, 2019), indicating a commonality in CHIP across different conditions. The predominance of nonsynonymous SNVs in these genes further underscores the potential functional impact of these mutations on hematopoietic clones.

Our longitudinal analysis revealed distinct patterns of clonal evolution in response to CIT and venetoclax-based therapies. The increase in the number of patients with detectable CHIP mutations following CIT, along with the significant rise in mVAF, suggests that CIT may contribute to the expansion of pre-existing CHIP. This finding is significant as it implicates conventional therapy in the potential exacerbation of CHIP, which could have long-term implications for patient management. (Genovese et al., 2014b) also observed that certain therapies might influence the prevalence of clonal mutations, supporting our findings.

In contrast, venetoclax-based therapy demonstrated a more complex relationship with CHIP. While some patients developed new CHIP mutations post-therapy, others cleared their pre-existing mutations. The lack of a significant change in mVAF suggests that venetoclax, unlike CIT, does not universally drive clonal expansion. This differential impact on clonal dynamics may influence treatment decisions, especially in patients with existing CHIP mutations. Pollyea *et al* reported that venetoclax-based regimens could disrupt clonal dynamics differently, which aligns with our observations (Pollyea *et al.*, 2018).

The presence and dynamics of CHIP mutations in CLL patients have important clinical implications. As CHIP is associated with increased risks of cardiovascular disease and secondary malignancies, monitoring CHIP in CLL patients could become a crucial aspect of long-term patient care. Fuster and Walsh in there study, highlighted the broader health implications of CHIP (Fuster & Walsh, 2018), underscoring the importance of our findings. Our study advocates for further research into the mechanisms driving clonal expansion post-therapy and the development of strategies to mitigate these effects.

However, this study is among the first to analyze CHIP in CLL, providing new insights into its implications in lymphoid diseases. Using samples from real-life patients, thereby offering a realistic clinical perspective that is more representative of actual patient populations compared to the idealized cohorts typically enrolled in clinical trials. Moreover, the application of NGS technology, noted for its high sensitivity and rapid execution, enhances the accuracy of the genetic analysis. NGS is poised to become the clinical standard for DNA sequencing in the near future, further underscoring the relevance of this study.

Despite this, our study also has a limitation, represented by the use of purified granulocyte DNA obtained through ultracentrifugation of blood samples, which therefore may also contain residues of lymphocyte DNA, potentially contaminating the samples. To definitively overcome this limitation, it would be appropriate to use a flow cytometric-based cell sorting technique, in order to separate the cell lines and sequence them individually.

Future studies should aim to elucidate the biological underpinnings of CHIP in CLL and explore the potential for targeted interventions. Additionally, integrating CHIP screening into routine clinical practice could help identify patients at higher risk for adverse outcomes, thereby informing personalized treatment approaches.

In conclusion, our study underscores the significance of CHIP in CLL and highlights the need for comprehensive genomic monitoring to optimize patient outcomes. The interplay between treatment regimens and clonal dynamics warrants further investigation to enhance our understanding of CLL pathogenesis and therapy-related complications.

# 6. References

- Abrisqueta, P., Pereira, A., Rozman, C., Aymerich, M., Giné, E., Moreno, C., Muntañola, A., Rozman,
  M., Villamor, N., Hodgson, K., Campo, E., Bosch, F., & Montserrat, E. (2009). Improving
  survival in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia (1980-2008): The Hospital Clínic of
  Barcelona experience. *Blood*, *114*(10), 2044–2050. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-04214346
- An international prognostic index for patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL-IPI): A metaanalysis of individual patient data. (2016). *The Lancet Oncology*, *17*(6), 779–790. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30029-8
- Arber, D. A., Orazi, A., Hasserjian, R. P., Borowitz, M. J., Calvo, K. R., Kvasnicka, H.-M., Wang, S. A.,
  Bagg, A., Barbui, T., Branford, S., Bueso-Ramos, C. E., Cortes, J. E., Dal Cin, P., DiNardo, C. D.,
  Dombret, H., Duncavage, E. J., Ebert, B. L., Estey, E. H., Facchetti, F., ... Tefferi, A. (2022).
  International Consensus Classification of Myeloid Neoplasms and Acute Leukemias:
  Integrating morphologic, clinical, and genomic data. *Blood*, *140*(11), 1200–1228.
  https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2022015850
- Asada, S., Fujino, T., Goyama, S., & Kitamura, T. (2019). The role of ASXL1 in hematopoiesis and myeloid malignancies. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, *76*(13), 2511–2523. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-019-03084-7
- Asada, S., Goyama, S., Inoue, D., Shikata, S., Takeda, R., Fukushima, T., Yonezawa, T., Fujino, T., Hayashi, Y., Kawabata, K. C., Fukuyama, T., Tanaka, Y., Yokoyama, A., Yamazaki, S., Kozuka-Hata, H., Oyama, M., Kojima, S., Kawazu, M., Mano, H., & Kitamura, T. (2018). Mutant ASXL1 cooperates with BAP1 to promote myeloid leukaemogenesis. *Nature Communications, 9*(1), 2733. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-05085-9
- Asada, S., & Kitamura, T. (2021). Clonal hematopoiesis and associated diseases: A review of recent findings. *Cancer Science*, *112*(10), 3962–3971. https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.15094

- Barr, P. M., Owen, C., Robak, T., Tedeschi, A., Bairey, O., Burger, J. A., Hillmen, P., Coutre, S. E.,
  Dearden, C., Grosicki, S., McCarthy, H., Li, J.-Y., Offner, F., Moreno, C., Zhou, C., Hsu, E., Szoke,
  A., Kipps, T. J., & Ghia, P. (2022a). Up to 8-year follow-up from RESONATE-2: First-line
  ibrutinib treatment for patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood Advances*, 6(11),
  3440–3450. https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2021006434
- Barr, P. M., Owen, C., Robak, T., Tedeschi, A., Bairey, O., Burger, J. A., Hillmen, P., Coutre, S. E.,
  Dearden, C., Grosicki, S., McCarthy, H., Li, J.-Y., Offner, F., Moreno, C., Zhou, C., Hsu, E., Szoke,
  A., Kipps, T. J., & Ghia, P. (2022b). Up to 8-year follow-up from RESONATE-2: First-line
  ibrutinib treatment for patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood Advances*, *6*(11),
  3440–3450. https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2021006434
- Barr, P. M., Owen, C., Robak, T., Tedeschi, A., Bairey, O., Burger, J. A., Hillmen, P., Coutre, S. E.,
  Dearden, C., Grosicki, S., McCarthy, H., Li, J.-Y., Offner, F., Moreno, C., Zhou, C., Hsu, E., Szoke,
  A., Kipps, T. J., & Ghia, P. (2022c). Up to 8-year follow-up from RESONATE-2: First-line
  ibrutinib treatment for patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood Advances*, *6*(11),
  3440–3450. https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2021006434
- Binet, J. L., Auquier, A., Dighiero, G., Chastang, C., Piguet, H., Goasguen, J., Vaugier, G., Potron, G.,
  Colona, P., Oberling, F., Thomas, M., Tchernia, G., Jacquillat, C., Boivin, P., Lesty, C., Duault, M.
  T., Monconduit, M., Belabbes, S., & Gremy, F. (1981). A new prognostic classification of
  chronic lymphocytic leukemia derived from a multivariate survival analysis. *Cancer, 48*(1),
  198–206. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0142(19810701)48:1<198::AID-</li>
  CNCR2820480131>3.0.CO;2-V
- Bonfiglio, S., Sutton, L.-A., Ljungström, V., Capasso, A., Pandzic, T., Weström, S., Foroughi-Asl, H.,
  Skaftason, A., Gellerbring, A., Lyander, A., Gandini, F., Gaidano, G., Trentin, L., Bonello, L.,
  Reda, G., Bödör, C., Stavroyianni, N., Tam, C. S., Marasca, R., ... Ghia, P. (2023). *BTK* and *PLCG2*remain unmutated in one-third of patients with CLL relapsing on ibrutinib. *Blood Advances*,
  7(12), 2794–2806. https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2022008821

- Bosch, F., & Dalla-Favera, R. (2019). Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: From genetics to treatment. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, *16*(11), 684–701. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-019-0239-8
- Brown, J. R., Eichhorst, B., Hillmen, P., Jurczak, W., Kaźmierczak, M., Lamanna, N., O'Brien, S. M., Tam,
  C. S., Qiu, L., Zhou, K., Simkovic, M., Mayer, J., Gillespie-Twardy, A., Ferrajoli, A., Ganly, P. S.,
  Weinkove, R., Grosicki, S., Mital, A., Robak, T., ... Shadman, M. (2023). Zanubrutinib or
  Ibrutinib in Relapsed or Refractory Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *388*(4), 319–332. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2211582
- Burger, J. A. (2020). Treatment of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 383(5), 460–473. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1908213
- Byrd, J. C., Hillmen, P., Ghia, P., Kater, A. P., Chanan-Khan, A., Furman, R. R., O'Brien, S., Yenerel, M. N., Illés, A., Kay, N., Garcia-Marco, J. A., Mato, A., Pinilla-Ibarz, J., Seymour, J. F., Lepretre, S., Stilgenbauer, S., Robak, T., Rothbaum, W., Izumi, R., ... Jurczak, W. (2021). Acalabrutinib
  Versus Ibrutinib in Previously Treated Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: Results of the First
  Randomized Phase III Trial. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *39*(31), 3441–3452.
  https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.21.01210
- Byrd, J. C., Jones, J. J., Woyach, J. A., Johnson, A. J., & Flynn, J. M. (2014). Entering the Era of Targeted Therapy for Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: Impact on the Practicing Clinician. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *32*(27), 3039–3047. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2014.55.8262
- Chong, S. J. F., & Davids, M. S. (2020). Breaking through BCL-2 inhibition in CLL. *Blood*, *135*(10), 709– 711. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2019004767
- *Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia—Cancer Stat Facts*. (n.d.). Retrieved 2 February 2024, from https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/clyl.html
- Condoluci, A., & Rossi, D. (2018). Age-related clonal hematopoiesis and monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis/chronic lymphocytic leukemia: A new association? *Haematologica*, *103*(5), 751–752. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2018.191098

- Condoluci, A., Terzi Di Bergamo, L., Langerbeins, P., Hoechstetter, M. A., Herling, C. D., De Paoli, L., Delgado, J., Rabe, K. G., Gentile, M., Doubek, M., Mauro, F. R., Chiodin, G., Mattsson, M., Bahlo, J., Cutrona, G., Kotaskova, J., Deambrogi, C., Smedby, K. E., Spina, V., ... Rossi, D. (2020a). International prognostic score for asymptomatic early-stage chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*, *135*(21), 1859–1869. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2019003453
- Condoluci, A., Terzi Di Bergamo, L., Langerbeins, P., Hoechstetter, M. A., Herling, C. D., De Paoli, L., Delgado, J., Rabe, K. G., Gentile, M., Doubek, M., Mauro, F. R., Chiodin, G., Mattsson, M., Bahlo, J., Cutrona, G., Kotaskova, J., Deambrogi, C., Smedby, K. E., Spina, V., ... Rossi, D. (2020b). International prognostic score for asymptomatic early-stage chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*, *135*(21), 1859–1869. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2019003453
- Cortese, D., Sutton, L.-A., Cahill, N., Smedby, K. E., Geisler, C., Gunnarsson, R., Juliusson, G., Mansouri,
  L., & Rosenquist, R. (2014). On the way towards a 'CLL prognostic index': Focus on TP53,
  BIRC3, SF3B1, NOTCH1 and MYD88 in a population-based cohort. *Leukemia*, *28*(3), 710–713.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2013.333
- Crombie, J., & Davids, M. S. (2017). *IGHV* mutational status testing in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *American Journal of Hematology*, *92*(12), 1393–1397. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.24808
- Damle, R. N., Wasil, T., Fais, F., Ghiotto, F., Valetto, A., Allen, S. L., Buchbinder, A., Budman, D.,
  Dittmar, K., Kolitz, J., Lichtman, S. M., Schulman, P., Vinciguerra, V. P., Rai, K. R., Ferrarini, M.,
  & Chiorazzi, N. (1999). Ig V gene mutation status and CD38 expression as novel prognostic indicators in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*, *94*(6), 1840–1847.
- Dreger, P., Schnaiter, A., Zenz, T., Böttcher, S., Rossi, M., Paschka, P., Bühler, A., Dietrich, S., Busch, R., Ritgen, M., Bunjes, D., Zeis, M., Stadler, M., Uharek, L., Scheid, C., Hegenbart, U., Hallek, M., Kneba, M., Schmitz, N., ... Stilgenbauer, S. (2013). TP53, SF3B1, and NOTCH1 mutations and outcome of allotransplantation for chronic lymphocytic leukemia: Six-year follow-up of the GCLLSG CLL3X trial. *Blood*, *121*(16), 3284–3288. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-11-469627

- Eichhorst, B., & Hallek, M. (2016). Prognostication of chronic lymphocytic leukemia in the era of new agents. *Hematology*, *2016*(1), 149–155. https://doi.org/10.1182/asheducation-2016.1.149
- Fabbri, G., & Dalla-Favera, R. (2016). The molecular pathogenesis of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, *16*(3), 145–162. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2016.8
- Fais, F., Ghiotto, F., Hashimoto, S., Sellars, B., Valetto, A., Allen, S. L., Schulman, P., Vinciguerra, V. P.,
  Rai, K., Rassenti, L. Z., Kipps, T. J., Dighiero, G., Schroeder, H. W., Ferrarini, M., & Chiorazzi, N. (1998). Chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells express restricted sets of mutated and unmutated antigen receptors. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *102*(8), 1515–1525. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI3009
- Farooqui, M. Z. H., Valdez, J., Martyr, S., Aue, G., Saba, N., Niemann, C. U., Herman, S. E. M., Tian, X., Marti, G., Soto, S., Hughes, T. E., Jones, J., Lipsky, A., Pittaluga, S., Stetler-Stevenson, M., Yuan, C., Lee, Y. S., Pedersen, L. B., Geisler, C. H., ... Wiestner, A. (2015). Ibrutinib for previously untreated and relapsed or refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia with TP53 aberrations: A phase 2, single-arm trial. *The Lancet Oncology*, *16*(2), 169–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(14)71182-9
- Fazi, C., Scarfò, L., Pecciarini, L., Cottini, F., Dagklis, A., Janus, A., Talarico, A., Scielzo, C., Sala, C.,
  Toniolo, D., Caligaris-Cappio, F., & Ghia, P. (2011). General population low-count CLL-like MBL
  persists over time without clinical progression, although carrying the same cytogenetic
  abnormalities of CLL. *Blood*, *118*(25), 6618–6625. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-05357251
- Fuster, J. J., & Walsh, K. (2018). Somatic Mutations and Clonal Hematopoiesis: Unexpected Potential New Drivers of Age-Related Cardiovascular Disease. *Circulation Research*, *122*(3), 523–532. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.312115
- Gaidano, G., & Rossi, D. (2017). The mutational landscape of chronic lymphocytic leukemia and its impact on prognosis and treatment. *Hematology*, *2017*(1), 329–337.
   https://doi.org/10.1182/asheducation-2017.1.329

Genovese, G., Kähler, A. K., Handsaker, R. E., Lindberg, J., Rose, S. A., Bakhoum, S. F., Chambert, K.,
Mick, E., Neale, B. M., Fromer, M., Purcell, S. M., Svantesson, O., Landén, M., Höglund, M.,
Lehmann, S., Gabriel, S. B., Moran, J. L., Lander, E. S., Sullivan, P. F., ... McCarroll, S. A.
(2014a). Clonal Hematopoiesis and Blood-Cancer Risk Inferred from Blood DNA Sequence. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *371*(26), 2477–2487.
https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1409405

- Genovese, G., Kähler, A. K., Handsaker, R. E., Lindberg, J., Rose, S. A., Bakhoum, S. F., Chambert, K.,
  Mick, E., Neale, B. M., Fromer, M., Purcell, S. M., Svantesson, O., Landén, M., Höglund, M.,
  Lehmann, S., Gabriel, S. B., Moran, J. L., Lander, E. S., Sullivan, P. F., ... McCarroll, S. A.
  (2014b). Clonal Hematopoiesis and Blood-Cancer Risk Inferred from Blood DNA Sequence. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *371*(26), 2477–2487.
  https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1409405
- Gonzalez, D., Martinez, P., Wade, R., Hockley, S., Oscier, D., Matutes, E., Dearden, C. E., Richards, S. M., Catovsky, D., & Morgan, G. J. (2011). Mutational Status of the *TP53* Gene As a Predictor of Response and Survival in Patients With Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: Results From the LRF CLL4 Trial. *Journal of Clinical Oncology, 29*(16), 2223–2229.

https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.32.0838

 Hallek, M., & Al-Sawaf, O. (2021). Chronic lymphocytic leukemia: 2022 update on diagnostic and therapeutic procedures. *American Journal of Hematology*, *96*(12), 1679–1705. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.26367

Hallek, M., Cheson, B. D., Catovsky, D., Caligaris-Cappio, F., Dighiero, G., Döhner, H., Hillmen, P.,
Keating, M., Montserrat, E., Chiorazzi, N., Stilgenbauer, S., Rai, K. R., Byrd, J. C., Eichhorst, B.,
O'Brien, S., Robak, T., Seymour, J. F., & Kipps, T. J. (2018a). iwCLL guidelines for diagnosis,
indications for treatment, response assessment, and supportive management of CLL. *Blood*, *131*(25), 2745–2760. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2017-09-806398

- Hallek, M., Cheson, B. D., Catovsky, D., Caligaris-Cappio, F., Dighiero, G., Döhner, H., Hillmen, P.,
  Keating, M., Montserrat, E., Chiorazzi, N., Stilgenbauer, S., Rai, K. R., Byrd, J. C., Eichhorst, B.,
  O'Brien, S., Robak, T., Seymour, J. F., & Kipps, T. J. (2018b). iwCLL guidelines for diagnosis,
  indications for treatment, response assessment, and supportive management of CLL. *Blood*, *131*(25), 2745–2760. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2017-09-806398
- Hallek, M., Fischer, K., Fingerle-Rowson, G., Fink, A., Busch, R., Mayer, J., Hensel, M., Hopfinger, G.,
  Hess, G., Von Grünhagen, U., Bergmann, M., Catalano, J., Zinzani, P., Caligaris-Cappio, F.,
  Seymour, J., Berrebi, A., Jäger, U., Cazin, B., Trneny, M., ... Stilgenbauer, S. (2010). Addition of
  rituximab to fludarabine and cyclophosphamide in patients with chronic lymphocytic
  leukaemia: A randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. *The Lancet*, *376*(9747), 1164–1174.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61381-5
- Hamblin, T. J., Davis, Z., Gardiner, A., Oscier, D. G., & Stevenson, F. K. (1999). Unmutated Ig V(H) genes are associated with a more aggressive form of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*, *94*(6), 1848–1854.
- Herling, C. D., Cymbalista, F., Groß-Ophoff-Müller, C., Bahlo, J., Robrecht, S., Langerbeins, P., Fink, A.M., Al-Sawaf, O., Busch, R., Porcher, R., Cazin, B., Dreyfus, B., Ibach, S., Leprêtre, S., Fischer,
  K., Kaiser, F., Eichhorst, B., Wentner, C.-M., Hoechstetter, M. A., ... Levy, V. (2020). Early
  treatment with FCR versus watch and wait in patients with stage Binet A high-risk chronic
  lymphocytic leukemia (CLL): A randomized phase 3 trial. *Leukemia*, *34*(8), 2038–2050.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/s41375-020-0747-7

Izzo, F., Lee, S. C., Poran, A., Chaligne, R., Gaiti, F., Gross, B., Murali, R. R., Deochand, S. D., Ang, C., Jones, P. W., Nam, A. S., Kim, K.-T., Kothen-Hill, S., Schulman, R. C., Ki, M., Lhoumaud, P., Skok, J. A., Viny, A. D., Levine, R. L., ... Landau, D. A. (2020). DNA methylation disruption reshapes the hematopoietic differentiation landscape. *Nature Genetics*, *52*(4), 378–387. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-020-0595-4

- Jaiswal, S., & Ebert, B. L. (2019). Clonal hematopoiesis in human aging and disease. *Science*, *366*(6465), eaan4673. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aan4673
- Jaiswal, S., Fontanillas, P., Flannick, J., Manning, A., Grauman, P. V., Mar, B. G., Lindsley, R. C., Mermel,
  C. H., Burtt, N., Chavez, A., Higgins, J. M., Moltchanov, V., Kuo, F. C., Kluk, M. J., Henderson,
  B., Kinnunen, L., Koistinen, H. A., Ladenvall, C., Getz, G., ... Ebert, B. L. (2014a). Age-Related
  Clonal Hematopoiesis Associated with Adverse Outcomes. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *371*(26), 2488–2498. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1408617
- Jaiswal, S., Fontanillas, P., Flannick, J., Manning, A., Grauman, P. V., Mar, B. G., Lindsley, R. C., Mermel,
  C. H., Burtt, N., Chavez, A., Higgins, J. M., Moltchanov, V., Kuo, F. C., Kluk, M. J., Henderson,
  B., Kinnunen, L., Koistinen, H. A., Ladenvall, C., Getz, G., ... Ebert, B. L. (2014b). Age-Related
  Clonal Hematopoiesis Associated with Adverse Outcomes. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *371*(26), 2488–2498. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1408617
- Jaiswal, S., Natarajan, P., Silver, A. J., Gibson, C. J., Bick, A. G., Shvartz, E., McConkey, M., Gupta, N., Gabriel, S., Ardissino, D., Baber, U., Mehran, R., Fuster, V., Danesh, J., Frossard, P., Saleheen, D., Melander, O., Sukhova, G. K., Neuberg, D., ... Ebert, B. L. (2017a). Clonal Hematopoiesis and Risk of Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *377*(2), 111–121. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1701719
- Jaiswal, S., Natarajan, P., Silver, A. J., Gibson, C. J., Bick, A. G., Shvartz, E., McConkey, M., Gupta, N., Gabriel, S., Ardissino, D., Baber, U., Mehran, R., Fuster, V., Danesh, J., Frossard, P., Saleheen, D., Melander, O., Sukhova, G. K., Neuberg, D., ... Ebert, B. L. (2017b). Clonal Hematopoiesis and Risk of Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *377*(2), 111–121. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1701719
- Julio Delgado, Ferran Nadeu, Dolors Colomer, & Elias Campo. (2020a). Chronic lymphocytic leukemia: From molecular pathogenesis to novel therapeutic strategies. *Haematologica*, *105*(9), 2205– 2217. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2019.236000

- Julio Delgado, Ferran Nadeu, Dolors Colomer, & Elias Campo. (2020b). Chronic lymphocytic leukemia: From molecular pathogenesis to novel therapeutic strategies. *Haematologica*, *105*(9), 2205– 2217. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2019.236000
- Landau, D. A., Carter, S. L., Stojanov, P., McKenna, A., Stevenson, K., Lawrence, M. S., Sougnez, C.,
  Stewart, C., Sivachenko, A., Wang, L., Wan, Y., Zhang, W., Shukla, S. A., Vartanov, A.,
  Fernandes, S. M., Saksena, G., Cibulskis, K., Tesar, B., Gabriel, S., ... Wu, C. J. (2013). Evolution
  and Impact of Subclonal Mutations in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Cell*, 152(4), 714–726.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.01.019
- Landgren, O., Albitar, M., Ma, W., Abbasi, F., Hayes, R. B., Ghia, P., Marti, G. E., & Caporaso, N. E. (2009). B-Cell Clones as Early Markers for Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *360*(7), 659–667. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0806122
- Landgren, O., Kyle, R. A., Pfeiffer, R. M., Katzmann, J. A., Caporaso, N. E., Hayes, R. B., Dispenzieri, A.,
  Kumar, S., Clark, R. J., Baris, D., Hoover, R., & Rajkumar, S. V. (2009). Monoclonal
  gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS) consistently precedes multiple myeloma:
  A prospective study. *Blood*, *113*(22), 5412–5417. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-12194241
- Langerbeins, P., Zhang, C., Robrecht, S., Cramer, P., Fürstenau, M., Al-Sawaf, O., Von Tresckow, J., Fink,
  A.-M., Kreuzer, K.-A., Vehling-Kaiser, U., Tausch, E., Müller, L., Eckart, M. J., Schlag, R., Freier,
  W., Gaska, T., Balser, C., Reiser, M., Stauch, M., ... Hallek, M. (2022). The CLL12 trial: Ibrutinib
  vs placebo in treatment-naïve, early-stage chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*, *139*(2), 177–
  187. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2021010845
- Lee, J., & Wang, Y. L. (2020). Prognostic and Predictive Molecular Biomarkers in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics*, 22(9), 1114–1125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmoldx.2020.06.004
- Malcikova, J., Stano-Kozubik, K., Tichy, B., Kantorova, B., Pavlova, S., Tom, N., Radova, L., Smardova, J., Pardy, F., Doubek, M., Brychtova, Y., Mraz, M., Plevova, K., Diviskova, E., Oltova, A., Mayer, J.,

Pospisilova, S., & Trbusek, M. (2015). Detailed analysis of therapy-driven clonal evolution of TP53 mutations in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia*, *29*(4), 877–885. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2014.297

- Malcikova, J., Tausch, E., Rossi, D., Sutton, L. A., Soussi, T., Zenz, T., Kater, A. P., Niemann, C. U.,
  Gonzalez, D., Davi, F., Gonzalez Diaz, M., Moreno, C., Gaidano, G., Stamatopoulos, K.,
  Rosenquist, R., Stilgenbauer, S., Ghia, P., Pospisilova, S., & on behalf of the European
  Research Initiative on Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (ERIC) TP53 network. (2018). ERIC
  recommendations for TP53 mutation analysis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia—Update on
  methodological approaches and results interpretation. *Leukemia*, *32*(5), 1070–1080.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/s41375-017-0007-7
- Malcovati, L., Gallì, A., Travaglino, E., Ambaglio, I., Rizzo, E., Molteni, E., Elena, C., Ferretti, V. V.,
  Catricalà, S., Bono, E., Todisco, G., Bianchessi, A., Rumi, E., Zibellini, S., Pietra, D., Boveri, E.,
  Camaschella, C., Toniolo, D., Papaemmanuil, E., ... Cazzola, M. (2017). Clinical significance of
  somatic mutation in unexplained blood cytopenia. *Blood*, *129*(25), 3371–3378.
  https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2017-01-763425
- Maloney, D. G. (2012). Anti-CD20 Antibody Therapy for B-Cell Lymphomas. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *366*(21), 2008–2016. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMct1114348
- Mato, A. R., Nabhan, C., Thompson, M. C., Lamanna, N., Brander, D. M., Hill, B., Howlett, C., Skarbnik,
  A., Cheson, B. D., Zent, C., Pu, J., Kiselev, P., Goy, A., Claxton, D., Isaac, K., Kennard, K. H.,
  Timlin, C., Landsburg, D., Winter, A., ... Ujjani, C. S. (2018). Toxicities and outcomes of 616
  ibrutinib-treated patients in the United States: A real-world analysis. *Haematologica*, *103*(5),
  874–879. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2017.182907
- Munir, T., Brown, J. R., O'Brien, S., Barrientos, J. C., Barr, P. M., Reddy, N. M., Coutre, S., Tam, C. S.,
  Mulligan, S. P., Jaeger, U., Kipps, T. J., Moreno, C., Montillo, M., Burger, J. A., Byrd, J. C.,
  Hillmen, P., Dai, S., Szoke, A., Dean, J. P., & Woyach, J. A. (2019). Final analysis from
  RESONATE: Up to six years of follow-up on ibrutinib in patients with previously treated

chronic lymphocytic leukemia or small lymphocytic lymphoma. *American Journal of Hematology*, *94*(12), 1353–1363. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.25638

- Nabhan, C., & Rosen, S. T. (2014). Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: A Clinical Review. JAMA, 312(21), 2265. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2014.14553
- Parikh, S. A., Rabe, K. G., Kay, N. E., Call, T. G., Ding, W., Leis, J. F., Kenderian, S. S., Muchtar, E., Wang,
  Y., Koehler, A. B., Schwager, S. M., Lesnick, C. E., Kleinstern, G., Van Dyke, D., Hanson, C. A.,
  Braggio, E., Slager, S. L., & Shanafelt, T. D. (2021). The CLL International Prognostic Index
  predicts outcomes in monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis and Rai 0 CLL. *Blood*, *138*(2), 149–159.
  https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2020009813
- Pfeilstöcker, M., Tuechler, H., Sanz, G., Schanz, J., Garcia-Manero, G., Solé, F., Bennett, J. M., Bowen,
  D., Fenaux, P., Dreyfus, F., Kantarjian, H., Kuendgen, A., Malcovati, L., Cazzola, M., Cermak, J.,
  Fonatsch, C., Le Beau, M. M., Slovak, M. L., Levis, A., ... Greenberg, P. L. (2016). Timedependent changes in mortality and transformation risk in MDS. *Blood*, *128*(7), 902–910.
  https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2016-02-700054
- Pflug, N., Bahlo, J., Shanafelt, T. D., Eichhorst, B. F., Bergmann, M. A., Elter, T., Bauer, K., Malchau, G., Rabe, K. G., Stilgenbauer, S., Döhner, H., Jäger, U., Eckart, M. J., Hopfinger, G., Busch, R., Fink, A.-M., Wendtner, C.-M., Fischer, K., Kay, N. E., & Hallek, M. (2014). Development of a comprehensive prognostic index for patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*, *124*(1), 49–62. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-02-556399
- Pollyea, D. A., Stevens, B. M., Jones, C. L., Winters, A., Pei, S., Minhajuddin, M., D'Alessandro, A.,
  Culp-Hill, R., Riemondy, K. A., Gillen, A. E., Hesselberth, J. R., Abbott, D., Schatz, D., Gutman,
  J. A., Purev, E., Smith, C., & Jordan, C. T. (2018). Venetoclax with azacitidine disrupts energy
  metabolism and targets leukemia stem cells in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Nature Medicine*, 24(12), 1859–1866. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0233-1

- Putowski, M., & Giannopoulos, K. (2021). Perspectives on Precision Medicine in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: Targeting Recurrent Mutations—NOTCH1, SF3B1, MYD88, BIRC3. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, *10*(16), 3735. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm10163735
- Rai, K., Sawitsky, A., Cronkite, E., Chanana, A., Levy, R., & Pasternack, B. (1975). Clinical staging of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*, *46*(2), 219–234.
   https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V46.2.219.219
- Reed, S. C., Croessmann, S., & Park, B. H. (2023). CHIP Happens: Clonal Hematopoiesis of Indeterminate Potential and Its Relationship to Solid Tumors. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 29(8), 1403–1411. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-22-2598
- Rossi, D., Khiabanian, H., Spina, V., Ciardullo, C., Bruscaggin, A., Famà, R., Rasi, S., Monti, S.,
  Deambrogi, C., De Paoli, L., Wang, J., Gattei, V., Guarini, A., Foà, R., Rabadan, R., & Gaidano,
  G. (2014). Clinical impact of small TP53 mutated subclones in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*, 123(14), 2139–2147. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-11-539726
- Rossi, D., Rasi, S., Fabbri, G., Spina, V., Fangazio, M., Forconi, F., Marasca, R., Laurenti, L., Bruscaggin,
  A., Cerri, M., Monti, S., Cresta, S., Famà, R., De Paoli, L., Bulian, P., Gattei, V., Guarini, A.,
  Deaglio, S., Capello, D., ... Gaidano, G. (2012). Mutations of NOTCH1 are an independent
  predictor of survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*, *119*(2), 521–529.
  https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-09-379966
- Scarfò, L., & Ghia, P. (2019). Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: Who, How, and Where? In M. Hallek, B.
   Eichhorst, & D. Catovsky (Eds.), *Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia* (pp. 3–17). Springer
   International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-11392-6\_1
- Shadman, M. (2023). Diagnosis and Treatment of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: A Review. *JAMA*, *329*(11), 918. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2023.1946
- Shadman, M., Liu, C., Eakle, K., Hiew, H. J., Biondo, J. M. L., Ghia, P., & Mato, A. R. (2023). COVID-19 Vaccination Response and Its Practical Application in Patients With Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *HemaSphere*, 7(1), e811. https://doi.org/10.1097/HS9.000000000000811

- Shanafelt, T. D., Jenkins, G., Call, T. G., Zent, C. S., Slager, S., Bowen, D. A., Schwager, S., Hanson, C. A., Jelinek, D. F., & Kay, N. E. (2009). Validation of a new prognostic index for patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Cancer*, *115*(2), 363–372. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.24004
- Sharman, J. P., Coutre, S. E., Furman, R. R., Cheson, B. D., Pagel, J. M., Hillmen, P., Barrientos, J. C.,
  Zelenetz, A. D., Kipps, T. J., Flinn, I. W., Ghia, P., Eradat, H., Ervin, T., Lamanna, N., Coiffier, B.,
  Pettitt, A. R., Ma, S., Tausch, E., Cramer, P., ... Stilgenbauer, S. (2019). Final Results of a
  Randomized, Phase III Study of Rituximab With or Without Idelalisib Followed by Open-Label
  Idelalisib in Patients With Relapsed Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *37*(16), 1391–1402. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.18.01460
- Shouse, G., Danilova, O. V., & Danilov, A. V. (2022). Current status of phosphoinotiside-3 kinase inhibitors in blood cancers. *Current Opinion in Oncology*, 34(5), 540–545. https://doi.org/10.1097/CCO.000000000000871
- Steensma, D. P., Bejar, R., Jaiswal, S., Lindsley, R. C., Sekeres, M. A., Hasserjian, R. P., & Ebert, B. L.
  (2015). Clonal hematopoiesis of indeterminate potential and its distinction from
  myelodysplastic syndromes. *Blood*, *126*(1), 9–16. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2015-03-631747
- Stevenson, F. K., Krysov, S., Davies, A. J., Steele, A. J., & Packham, G. (2011). B-cell receptor signaling in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*, *118*(16), 4313–4320. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-06-338855
- Stilgenbauer, S., Schnaiter, A., Paschka, P., Zenz, T., Rossi, M., Döhner, K., Bühler, A., Böttcher, S.,
  Ritgen, M., Kneba, M., Winkler, D., Tausch, E., Hoth, P., Edelmann, J., Mertens, D., Bullinger,
  L., Bergmann, M., Kless, S., Mack, S., ... Döhner, H. (2014a). Gene mutations and treatment
  outcome in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: Results from the CLL8 trial. *Blood*, *123*(21), 3247–3254. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-01-546150
- Stilgenbauer, S., Schnaiter, A., Paschka, P., Zenz, T., Rossi, M., Döhner, K., Bühler, A., Böttcher, S., Ritgen, M., Kneba, M., Winkler, D., Tausch, E., Hoth, P., Edelmann, J., Mertens, D., Bullinger,

L., Bergmann, M., Kless, S., Mack, S., ... Döhner, H. (2014b). Gene mutations and treatment outcome in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: Results from the CLL8 trial. *Blood*, *123*(21), 3247–3254. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-01-546150

- Wang, E., Mi, X., Thompson, M. C., Montoya, S., Notti, R. Q., Afaghani, J., Durham, B. H., Penson, A.,
  Witkowski, M. T., Lu, S. X., Bourcier, J., Hogg, S. J., Erickson, C., Cui, D., Cho, H., Singer, M.,
  Totiger, T. M., Chaudhry, S., Geyer, M., ... Abdel-Wahab, O. (2022). Mechanisms of Resistance
  to Noncovalent Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *386*(8),
  735–743. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2114110
- Wang, L., Lawrence, M. S., Wan, Y., Stojanov, P., Sougnez, C., Stevenson, K., Werner, L., Sivachenko,
  A., DeLuca, D. S., Zhang, L., Zhang, W., Vartanov, A. R., Fernandes, S. M., Goldstein, N. R.,
  Folco, E. G., Cibulskis, K., Tesar, B., Sievers, Q. L., Shefler, E., ... Wu, C. J. (2011). *SF3B1* and
  Other Novel Cancer Genes in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *365*(26), 2497–2506. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1109016
- Welch, J. S., Ley, T. J., Link, D. C., Miller, C. A., Larson, D. E., Koboldt, D. C., Wartman, L. D., Lamprecht,
  T. L., Liu, F., Xia, J., Kandoth, C., Fulton, R. S., McLellan, M. D., Dooling, D. J., Wallis, J. W.,
  Chen, K., Harris, C. C., Schmidt, H. K., Kalicki-Veizer, J. M., ... Wilson, R. K. (2012). The Origin and Evolution of Mutations in Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Cell*, *150*(2), 264–278.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.023
- Wierda, W. G., Brown, J., Abramson, J. S., Awan, F., Bilgrami, S. F., Bociek, G., Brander, D., Chanan-Khan, A. A., Coutre, S. E., Davis, R. S., Eradat, H., Fletcher, C. D., Gaballa, S., Ghobadi, A., Hamid, M. S., Hernandez-Ilizaliturri, F., Hill, B., Kaesberg, P., Kamdar, M., ... Sundar, H. (2022a). NCCN Guidelines<sup>®</sup> Insights: Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia/Small Lymphocytic Lymphoma, Version 3.2022: Featured Updates to the NCCN Guidelines. *Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network*, *20*(6), 622–634. https://doi.org/10.6004/jnccn.2022.0031

Wierda, W. G., Brown, J., Abramson, J. S., Awan, F., Bilgrami, S. F., Bociek, G., Brander, D., Chanan-Khan, A. A., Coutre, S. E., Davis, R. S., Eradat, H., Fletcher, C. D., Gaballa, S., Ghobadi, A., Hamid, M. S., Hernandez-Ilizaliturri, F., Hill, B., Kaesberg, P., Kamdar, M., ... Sundar, H. (2022b). NCCN Guidelines<sup>®</sup> Insights: Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia/Small Lymphocytic Lymphoma, Version 3.2022: Featured Updates to the NCCN Guidelines. *Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network*, *20*(6), 622–634.

https://doi.org/10.6004/jnccn.2022.0031

Wierda, W. G., O'Brien, S., Wang, X., Faderl, S., Ferrajoli, A., Do, K.-A., Cortes, J., Thomas, D., Garcia-Manero, G., Koller, C., Beran, M., Giles, F., Ravandi, F., Lerner, S., Kantarjian, H., & Keating, M. (2007). Prognostic nomogram and index for overall survival in previously untreated patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*, *109*(11), 4679–4685.

https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-12-051458

- Woyach, J. A., Ruppert, A. S., Guinn, D., Lehman, A., Blachly, J. S., Lozanski, A., Heerema, N. A., Zhao,
  W., Coleman, J., Jones, D., Abruzzo, L., Gordon, A., Mantel, R., Smith, L. L., McWhorter, S.,
  Davis, M., Doong, T.-J., Ny, F., Lucas, M., ... Byrd, J. C. (2017). *BTK* <sup>C481S</sup> -Mediated Resistance to
  Ibrutinib in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *35*(13), 1437–1443.
  https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2016.70.2282
- Xie, M., Lu, C., Wang, J., McLellan, M. D., Johnson, K. J., Wendl, M. C., McMichael, J. F., Schmidt, H. K.,
  Yellapantula, V., Miller, C. A., Ozenberger, B. A., Welch, J. S., Link, D. C., Walter, M. J., Mardis,
  E. R., Dipersio, J. F., Chen, F., Wilson, R. K., Ley, T. J., & Ding, L. (2014). Age-related mutations associated with clonal hematopoietic expansion and malignancies. *Nature Medicine*, *20*(12), 1472–1478. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3733
- Zain, R., & Vihinen, M. (2021). Structure-Function Relationships of Covalent and Non-Covalent BTK Inhibitors. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *12*, 694853.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.694853

- Zenz, T., Eichhorst, B., Busch, R., Denzel, T., Häbe, S., Winkler, D., Bühler, A., Edelmann, J., Bergmann,
   M., Hopfinger, G., Hensel, M., Hallek, M., Döhner, H., & Stilgenbauer, S. (2010). *TP53* Mutation and Survival in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *28*(29),
   4473–4479. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2009.27.8762
- Zink, F., Stacey, S. N., Norddahl, G. L., Frigge, M. L., Magnusson, O. T., Jonsdottir, I., Thorgeirsson, T. E., Sigurdsson, A., Gudjonsson, S. A., Gudmundsson, J., Jonasson, J. G., Tryggvadottir, L., Jonsson, T., Helgason, A., Gylfason, A., Sulem, P., Rafnar, T., Thorsteinsdottir, U., Gudbjartsson, D. F., ... Stefansson, K. (2017). Clonal hematopoiesis, with and without candidate driver mutations, is common in the elderly. *Blood*, *130*(6), 742–752. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2017-02-769869